1963

State of Utah et al v. Barbara Bell : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an appeal by the petitioners-appellants, Robert Geary London and Sandra Clegg London, from a decree

and order of the Juvenile Court of the First District in and for Weber County, State of Utah, holding that Maralee London, a minor child now in the care, custody and control of the petitioners and appellants, is not an abandoned and deserted child, and ordering the return of said minor child to the care, custody and control of her natural mother, Jeanne Bell.

DISPOSITION OF LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the judge, and from the finding that said minor child was not an abandoned and deserted child and a decree providing for the return of said minor child to her natural mother, Jeanne Bell, the petitioners-appellants bring this appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Petitioners and appellants seek reversal of the decree of the Juvenile Court and the order returning Maralee London to her natural mother, Jeanne Bell, on the ground that said minor was and is now an abandoned and deserted child, and that it is in the best interest and welfare of said minor child that the natural mother be permanently deprived of her custody.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The child in question and designated herein as Maralee London was born on the 12th day of February, 1962, in the State of California, as the natural child of Jeanne

Bell, who at the time of delivery was fourteen years old (T. 28). Throughout the pregnancy, the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, and her mother, Barbara Bell, discussed with their family doctor the possibility and desirability of placing the child for adoption (T. 22-23). The natural mother claims to know who the natural father is, but no marriage was planned, and the natural mother and her guardian made no plans to provide a home for the baby (T. 17, 20, 10, 39). Petitioners-appellants were interested in adopting a child and were advised by relatives to contact Genevive Meierstein and Dr. Morris, who worked with her in the placing of children for adoption (T. 76, 77). Petitioners-appellants were then advised on the 12th day of February, 1962, that the baby they had been waiting for had been born and that they should go to California, and on the 13th day of February, 1962, they went to the hospital to see the baby (T. 69). At the specific request of the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, and her guardian, Barbara Bell, petitioners were introduced to Jeanne Bell in her hospital room on the 14th day of February, 1962 (T. 5). At that time petitioners presented to Jeanne Bell a document purporting to be a preliminary consent for adoption (Exh. 1), which reads as follows:

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

My name is Jeanne Bell, and I reside at Sunland, County of Los Angeles, State of California. I gave birth to a child on February 12, 1962, in Burbank Community Hospital in the City of Burbank, State of California, for the delivery of this child. The father of this child is unknown.

I have been informed that a Mr. Robert Geary Lon-

don and Sandra London, his wife, residing at Roy, Utah, desire to adopt the child. They have come to Los Angeles immediately after being notified of its birth for the purpose of taking the child back to Roy, Utah. I believe that Mr. and Mrs. London would be good parents and would give my child proper care, support, and education. They have one child in their family, and I believe that this child would add much joy and happiness to their lives and that this arrangement is desirable for all parties concerned.

It is my expectation to deliver the child into their custody as soon as practical after its birth, with the understanding that they will take the child to their home in Roy, Utah, and will institute adoption proceedings there shortly after they arrive home. I understand, however, that under the Utah law, the petition for adoption cannot be granted until after the child has lived with the adopting parents for at least one year.

I also understand that the adoption cannot be completed without my written consent, and that no other consent than mine is necessary as I am unmarried. It is my present intention to sign such consent when presented to me by the appropriate authority.

I do not expect and will not accept any payment or other consideration for agreeing to this adoption or for giving such consent. I am informed, however, that Mr. and Mrs. London intend to pay for my doctor and hospital bills in connection with the birth of the child upon the basis that if they had a natural child of their own at the time, they would be put to that expense.

The entire adoption procedure and the legal rights and liabilities which arise from it are thoroughly

understood by me, and in particular the fact that after the adoption I shall have no rights of any kind to custody or visitation and that the child from the time of the adoption shall be legally in the relationship of a total stranger to me, and I shall have no more right in respect to it than it would to a strange or unrelated child. I have also been informed and understand that this statement is purely a statement of my present intention and that I have the legal right to refuse to sign my consent to the adoption when it is presented to me. I do now fully intend, however, to cooperate in every way in completing the proposed adoption above outlined. Dated this 14th day of February, 1962, at Burbank, California.

(s) Jeanne Bell

(s) Mrs. Barbara Bell

(Notary clause)

The natural mother, Jeanne Bell, and her guardian, Barbara Bell, signed the document only after having read it and only after a paragraph or clause was explained to them by Genevive Meierstein (T. 10, Meierstein Dep. 11). The guardian, Barbara Bell, who is also objector-respondent, not only concurred in, but encouraged the foregoing proceeding (T. 10, 37-39). For approximately ten months petitioners-appellants proceeded to become parents, guardians, and family to this infant (T. 92), and without knowledge of any problems in California, filed their petition for adoption and obtained an order appointing a commissioner to take the consent of the natural mother (T. 94, 100; Exh. 8). On that same afternoon of November 21, 1962, the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, mailed an envelope addressed to counsel for petitioners-appellants containing exhibits 2 and 3, requesting that the minor child be re-

turned to her (T. 32, Exh. 8). The petition for adoption had already been filed, and appellants refused to deliver the baby to the objector-respondent. On the 28th day of January, 1963, an order dismissing the petition for adoption without prejudice was signed and entered, the objector-respondent having retained counsel in Ogden, Utah. On or about the 22nd day of March, 1963, a petition was filed in the Juvenile Court of the First District in and for Weber County, alleging that Maralee London was an abandoned and deserted child and that the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, was not a fit and proper person for the care, custody and control of said minor child. From an adverse ruling of the Juvenile Court this appeal is brought. However, the decree also provided that the temporary custody and control of the said Maralee London should remain with petitioners-appellants should the decision of the Juvenile Court be appealed to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, and said minor child is presently residing with petitioners.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

MARALEE LONDON WAS AN ABANDONED AND DESERTED CHILD, AND THE JUVENILE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SO HOLD.

The Juvenile Court has broad and comprehensive latitude and discretion in determining custody of a child, and it may order that the natural parent be permanently deprived of custody and that the child be placed in a family for adoption without consent of the parent. *Devereaux v.*

Brown, 2 U.2d 334, 273 P.2d 185. Where parents are permanently deprived of child custody, their parental rights are terminated, and consent to proposed adoption is unnecessary. *Jacob v. State Public Welfare Commission*, 7 U.2d 304, 323 P.2d 720, U.C.A. 55-10-32.

The Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Section 78-30-4, 5, provides for adoption without the consent of the natural parents based upon a finding that said child was deserted by its natural parents. Also, under the provisions of 55-10-30, U.C.A., the Juvenile Court has the power and the duty to determine whether or not a child has been neglected or deserted; and further, under sub-section (4) the court has the power to place the child in the custody of a guardian other than the child's natural parents. A neglected child is defined at 55-10-6, U.C.A., as follows:

A child who is abandoned by his parent, guardian, or custodian. A child who lacks proper parental care by reason of the fault or habits of the parent, guardian, or custodian. A child whose parent, guardian, or custodian neglects or refuses to provide proper or necessary subsistence, education, medical or surgical care or other care necessary for his health, morals or well-being.

From the very beginning of her pregnancy, Jeanne Bell and her mother discussed with Dr. Ralph Sloane the fact that this child was to be placed for adoption (Sloan Dep. 25, 33). They knew that arrangements for adoption were being made early in the pregnancy by Dr. Clifford J. Morris (T. 46). They had ample time to seek legal counsel and to determine what procedure would be in the best in-

interest of the minor child. When the preliminary consent for adoption was presented in that hospital room, Jeanne Bell and her mother read the document, asked questions about it, and then signed it before Marian P. Kringle, a Notary Public. Their intent at the time they signed that document is beyond dispute, and the testimony of Barbara Bell at the hearing shows a complete change of attitude on her part as follows:

Q. You state in your letter, Exhibit No. 3, that you are willing to support your daughter in her attempt to regain custody of this child, but at the time this child was born and during the pregnancy, apparently you were not willing to support her and her desires at that time, is this correct?

A. Well, it was, but that wasn't really the reason. I think I was trying to get my little girl back like she was before and forget about it, because she was just thirteen when it happened, and fourteen when she had her baby, and a girl can grow up an awful lot at thirteen, fourteen and fifteen. She will be fifteen in June. All this happened in a three-year period, and the baby is still only thirteen months old now. She has developed from a thirteen-year-old girl to a young woman. I feel she can care for it now where before I didn't.

And again, at page 45:

Q. Now did you have this same belief at the time you signed Exhibit No. 17.

A. I am sure I didn't think about it. In fact, I hadn't thought about it until actually at the time I didn't think about it. The situation was pretty bad. I believe I felt at the time that because of her

youth, of her age at the time the baby was born, that was the big factor. If she had been older she would have had a life of her own. At that time she would have been old enough to know what she wanted and asserted her own rights, and otherwise I would have had an altogether different attitude if she had been older.

The natural mother, Jeanne Bell, gives a little different view of her attitude at Page 4 of the Transcript:

Q. At the time that these discussions were had, did you advise anyone of your intent to place the baby out for adoption?

A. You mean, did I tell anyone I would have the baby adopted?

Q. Yes.

A. The doctor thought I should place the baby with the Londons.

Q. Now was this before the birth of the baby?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you advise anyone besides your doctor?

A. We didn't talk about it at home. We were planning to leave it up to the doctor.

Q. Were any provisions made for keeping the baby at the time of its birth?

A. No.

Q. None whatsoever?

A. My mother had made none, but I was planning on keeping it and fighting to get my baby back when I could, and as far as I knew I had no legal way then of keeping it, so I planned someday I would try and get it back if I could.

And again, at page 7:

Q. So what you are saying, Miss Bell, in effect, is at the time this happened, the Londons happened to be a convenient vehicle for someone to take your baby until such time (as) you wanted it back, is this correct?

A. No, that isn't. I wanted my baby, but what I really planned to do was think it over, but like I say, I was young and I really didn't realize actually what I was doing. It was right at that time everyone was trying to make my decisions for me and running my life for me, and that I didn't have a mind of my own, and I guess I wasn't in a position to go on my own.

Q. You feel now at fourteen months later that this position has completely changed. Is this correct?

A. Yes, I do. I feel like I can make arrangements for its care, and I have more faith. I know what some of my legal rights are now.

The Londons received the baby from the hospital staff on the 15th day of February, 1962, and from that date until the 26th day of November, 1962, there was not even an inquiry made to the Londons or to their counsel by the natural mother, and even after Exhibits 2 and 3 were

mailed, no legal steps were taken by the natural mother to obtain the custody of her child. Petitioners-appellants were the ones who filed a petition in the Juvenile Court to bring the matter to a conclusion.

Abandonment of a child as ground for adoption without parental consent imports any conduct of a natural parent which evinces a settled purpose to forego all parental duties and relinquish all parental claims to the child. *Shumway v. Farley*, 68 Ariz. 159, 203 P.2d 507. As was stated at *In re Potter*, 149 P. page 23 at page 24:

Abandonment does not necessarily mean that a parent has no interest in the child's welfare, it means rather a withdrawal or neglect of parental duties. It means a withholding of care and protection, of sympathy and affection.

In the case of *Harrison v. Harker*, 142, P. 716, the court in a split decision returned the child to its natural parents, but two comments illustrate the case at bar perfectly. At page 736 it is said:

Since you have abandoned the child or otherwise voluntarily divested yourself of its custody and permitted others to provide it with a home, maintain, clothe, feed and care for it as their own, the child's interest and not your desires or your mere naked legal rights shall control and direct the discretion of the court in the premises.

And again, at page 741, the court stated:

Suppose the mother should again meet with misfortune such as in her judgment would justify her

to abandon the child, would she not again abandon it precisely as she did to further her own welfare.

In the present case the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, did have a change of heart after the first hearing, as expressed in her letter of April 22, 1963, marked Exhibit 9, as follows:

Dear Mr. Murray: I am writing in regards to a custody case you are representing me in.

Because of personal problems, I am very sorry to tell you I have decided to discontinue trying to get my child back. When I am eighteen I plan to repay my mother the money she has spent for this. I can't tell you how sorry I am. I don't want to do this, but I have no other choice.

If you have any fee unpaid, you will be paid. I'm so sorry I wasted your time, but it is impossible for me to continue.

Please write me if you have any question. I'm very, very sorry.

Sincerely,

(s) Jeanne Bell

The foregoing letter was never mailed to Mr. Murray, but instead was handed to Robert Geary London at Los Angeles, California.

In *Kurtz, v. Christensen*, 209 P. 340, 1922, a Utah case, the court found that the natural mother voluntarily permitted her doctor to place the child for adoption. Thereafter, the natural mother married the child's father, and in a habeas corpus proceeding the court found that the na-

tural mother had abandoned her child, and the decision was affirmed on appeal. The court in upholding the decision of *Hummel v. Parrish*, 43 U. 373, 134 P. 898, quoted at page 344:

Though the presumption is that it is for the best interest of the child and society that it remain with its natural parents during minority (nevertheless) where a parent has surrendered her child to others in infancy and it has been allowed to remain with others until new ties of mutual affection are formed, the child's welfare will control the parents' rights in habeas corpus proceedings for its return.

Jensen v. Early, reported at 228 P. 217, is a Utah case decided in 1924 with facts very similar to the case now before the court. In that case the natural mother was three years older than the natural mother in this present case. In the Jensen case demand was made for the child six months after its birth, and in the case at bar, ten months after birth. In the Jensen case the natural mother reached her majority under the law within six months after the child was born; in the present case, the natural mother, Jeanne Bell, is now sixteen years of age and has not seen her child since the 14th day of February, 1962. In the Jensen case the district court found that there had been an abandonment, but the decision was reversed by the Supreme Court holding that there had been no abandonment. Abandonment was there defined as follows:

Abandonment in such cases, ordinarily means that the parent has placed the child on some doorstep or left it in some convenient place in the hope that someone will find it and take charge of it, or has abandoned it entirely to chance or to fate. To make

arrangements beforehand with some proper and competent person to have the care and the custody of the child it not an abandonment of it as that term is ordinarily understood.

In the recent case of *Wilson v. Pierce*, 14 U.2d 317, 383 P. 2d 925, the natural mother was a married woman whose expected child was fathered by someone other than her husband. She was anxious for the expected child to be well taken care of in an adequate home, and after failing to place the child with a family in Texas, succeeded in placing her expected child with an Ogden, Utah, couple under an agreement much less comprehensive than Exhibit 1 in the present case. In the following twenty-four months Mrs. Pierce kept in contact with the Wilsons, and on one occasion even visited her natural daughter. However, the Wilsons took no steps toward adoption until the natural mother requested the return of her child two years later. The same types of defenses were interposed there as in the case presently before the court. In affirming an order of the district court granting the adoption based on abandonment, the court said, at page 927:

The significant fact here is that the adoption is not grounded upon the written consent as such. Section 78-30-5, U.C.A. 1953, provides that a deserted child may be adopted without the consent of its parents. This is a practical necessity which the law wisely recognizes for the relief of children who might be abandoned to a worse fate than being so rescued. In the interest of encouraging rescue and care of children left without parental refuge, it is not the policy of the law to impose undue hazards upon people disposed to come to their aid by leaving

them at the mercy of the whim or caprice of a natural parent who has abandoned his child.

In referring to the definition of abandonment given in the Jensen case, the court further stated, at page 928:

We see no reason for disagreement with the language as applied to the particular fact situations. But it was not meant to prevent a finding of the true facts where there has been an actual desertion or abandonment. A distinction should be made between leaving a child under circumstances which show a continuing intention to fulfill the duties of parenthood by seeing to it that the child is cared for and of possibly resuming such responsibility if that becomes necessary; as distinguished from an intent to completely and permanently abandon a child and parental responsibilities to it where there is in fact the latter type of abandonment, it matters not whether it is to a situation where others may be expected to care for the child, or it is left to the mere chance of whatever fate might befall it. Whether there has been such an abandonment and what is to be done with the child depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case.

Maralee London is now two years old. She has never lived with her natural mother, and the only parents she knows are the petitioners-appellants. The court, in quoting from the Kurtz case, once again affirmed the principle that the best interest of the child is always the principal concern. Here, as in that case, Maralee London knows no other parents, and the present wholesome relationship existing between petitioners-appellants and said minor child should not be ignored.

In its Memorandum Decision, the Juvenile Court pointed out two determining factors basic to the legal concept of abandonment (Record, p. 16). The court first came to grips with the significance of Exhibit No. 1, but dismissed its evidentiary value based on Jeanne Bell's youth.

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