Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State of Utah et al v. Barbara Bell: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

JEANNE BELL, NATURAL MOTHER, NEVER INTENDED HERSELF TO CONSENT TO THE PLACEMENT OF HER CHILD WITH APPELLANTS. HER ACTIONS WOULD NOT SHOW AN ABANDONMENT OR DESERTION OF HER CHILD.

From the testimony of Jeanne Bell, (T. 4), it is apparent that in her own mind Jeanne Bell wanted to keep her child.

- Q. And did you discuss with them your desires in this matter?
 - A. I told them I wanted to keep my baby.
- Q. But she wouldn't allow it at the time. Is that correct?
- A. Yes, and especially when my doctor had told me I might have to go to Court.
- Q. At the time that these discussions were had, did you advise anyone of your intent to place the baby out for adoption?
- A. You mean, did I tell anyone I would have the baby adopted?
 - Q. Yes.
- A. The doctor thought I should place the baby with the Londons.
 - Q. Now was this before the birth of the baby?
 - A. Yes.
 - Q. Did you advise anyone besides your doctor?
- A. We didn't talk about it at home. We were planning to leave it up to the doctor.
- Q. Were any provisions made for keeping the baby at the time of its birth?
 - A. No.

Q. None whatsoever?

A. My mother had made none, but I was planning on keeping it and fighting to get my baby back when I could and as far as I knew I had no legal way then of keeping it, so I planned some day I would try and get it back if I could.

It is apparent from this testimony that the natural mother never abandoned her child or intended to sever her desire to regain possession of her child. In $Taylor\ v$. Waddoups, 241 P. 2d 160, paragraph 6, our court defined abandonment to be as follows:

"Abandonment, in such cases, ordinarily means that the parent has placed the child on some doorstep or left it in some convenient place in the hope that some one will find it and take charge of it, or has abandoned it entirely to chance or to fate. To make arrangements before hand with some proper and competent person to have the care and custody of the child is not an abandonment of it as that term is ordinarily understood. True, the mere act of giving away the child by the parent into the care and custody of another may militate against him in reclaiming its custody."

As also stated in *Taylor v. Waddoups*, the mere lapse of the time, without more, is not decisive. As stated in paragraph 2 of the trial courts decision, Jeanne Bell did, during the ten month period, exert efforts to investigate her rights and attempt to contact her child and was concerned about the child's welfare. It is further apparent from her testimony that during the ten months period she had done things on her own to attempt to regain possession of her child. (T. 22):

- A. No. I did not know I would be allowed to until two weeks ago. I talked to the Legal Aid Society and I found out that according to California law I had the right to have my child returned and I didn't know what I could do. Then I got in touch with Attorney Murray. I wanted to but I didn't know I could.
- Q. Didn't you say that you consulted some people at Welfare to find out what your rights were?
- A. Yes, I found out that I should be able to care for the baby if I had her.
- Q. Did you consult an attorney in California, Miss Bell?
 - A. I consulted Legal Aid at first.

Another case wherein the facts are similar to the case at bar is *In Re Guardianship of Rutherford*, 10 Calif. R. 270, wherein it was held that the mother had not surrendered her rights to her child where she had given it up for adoption only on the advice of other people and basically against her own convictions. *People v. Anonymous*, 210 N.Y.S. 2d 698.

From the wording of the document that was signed by the natural mother in the hospital, as stated in the next to last sentence.

I HAVE ALSO BEEN INFORMED AND UNDERSTAND THAT THIS STATEMENT IS PURELY A STATEMENT OF MY PRESENT INTENTION AND THAT I HAVE THE LEGAL RIGHT TO REFUSE TO SIGN MY CONSENT TO THE ADOPTION WHEN IT IS PRESENTED TO ME.

Jeanne Bell reserved her right to recover her child, and she relied upon said statement. It also appears from the testimony of Jeanne Bell that she signed the document because she was refused the right to see her child. (T. 8)

- Q. Isn't it true that this exhibit No. 1 contains a statement of your rights with respect to this.
- A. I know my rights, but I didn't know some things and there were things in there that I couldn't exactly remember that I didn't find at the time I signed it, things that I should have had the right of discussing with my family and as I say, some of the things I remember and then I re-read the paper when I got home from the hospital but I did read the paper there, but there were a few rights I feel I should have been told.
- Q. But these rights that you are talking about were not rights that the Londons represented to you in any that you did not have, did they?
- A. I think I should have had a chance to hold my baby and talk this over with my mother.
- Q. Do you know whether or not the Londons were responsible for your failure to be able to hold your baby and talk these things over with your mother?
- A. No, I think it was the doctor and nurse. The nurse told my mother that they had orders not to let me see my baby until the papers were signed.

It is also apparent from the testimony that the document was prepared by Appellants and therefore should be strictly construed against them.

POINT II

THAT THE PROCEDURE FOLLOWED IN OBTAINING THE CHILD IN CALIFORNIA AND BRINGING IT INTO UTAH WAS IN VIOLATION OF UTAH STATUTES.

Utah Statute 55-8-3 provides as follows:

PLACEMENT OF CHLDREN FROM WITHOUT STATE:

Every child brought into or sent into the State for placement or adoption in the State shall be sent to and placed by an agency licensed under the provisions of this Chapter.

It is apparent that the reason for this statute is to require that all children brought into the State of Utah to be placed for adoption, must be placed with a licensed agency as provided by law. The legislature knew that investigation should be made concerning the home for the child, the ability of the prospective parents to be able to adequately care for the children, and to have some control, supervision and regulation of the placement of children for adoption. It is obvious that this statute was intended to stop the baby traffic, and bringing of children from other states into the State of Utah without going through the licensed agencies.

If the procedure followed in our case is legal, then the Utah Statute would be circumvented and there would be no regulation or control over children brought into the State of Utah and the protection and benefits of the statute would be completely annulled.

The Utah Legislature has seen fit to place rigid restrictions and regulations concerning the adoption of children in the State of Utah. If this practice is legal, there could be a substantial increase in children brought into the state through no control or regulation. It would be a means whereby any Utah couple, that did not desire or could not comply with the Utah Law concerning the adoption of children in Utah, could go to some other State and obtain a child through whatever means and bring it into the State, and accomplish what the legislature has sought to prohibit.

Utah Statute 55-8-5 further provides:

Every person, agency, firm, corporation, or association violating any of the provisions of this Chapter, or who intentionally makes any false statement or report to the State Department of Public Welfare with reference to the matters contained herein is guilty of misdemeanor.

It is very clear that the criminal penalty imposed by Statute for the failure to comply with Statute 55-8-3, concerning children brought into the State, that the legislature intended to put teeth into the law in requiring the children be placed with agencies when brought into this State.

POINT III

THAT THE NATURAL MOTHER CANNOT VOL-UNTARILY RELINQUISH HER RIGHTS TO HER CHILD, UNLESS A CONSENT IS OBTAINED AS PRO-VIDED BY UTAH STATUTE.

Utah Statute 78-30-4 provides as follows:

That the parent or parents whose consent would otherwise be required have theretofore, in writing, acknowledged before any officer authorized to take acknowledgment, released his or her or their control or custody of such child to any agency licensed to receive children for placement or adoption under Chapter 8 Title 55 and such agency consents, in writing, to such adoption.

It is clear from the expressed statement of this Statute that the only means by which a consent can be taken from a parent is if it is given to a licensed agency. 78-30-8 further provides:

The person adopting a child and the child adopted, and the other persons whose consent is necesary, must appear before the district court of the county where the person adopting resides, and the necessary consent must thereupon be signed and an agreement be executed by the person adopting to the effect that the child shall be adopted and treated in all respects as his own lawful child; provided, that if a person whose consent is necessary is not within the county the court may, in the same manner as is or may be provided for the taking of depositions in civil cases, appoint a commissioner to examine such person upon his deposition and to take his written consent and to certify the same to the court. The commissioner shall explain to such person the legal significance of such consent, and shall certify to the court his finding as to whether or not the consent is freely given. Where such person is within the state of Utah the commission shall issue to a judge of the district court of the county in which such person is located.

As is stated in this statute, the law requires that any consent given must be given before a commissioner appointed by the court. Until this is done and this consent is freely given then there has not been a consent that would permit an adoption to be granted.

It is interesting to note that the statute says that the commissioner shall certify to the court, his findings as to whether or not the consent is freely given. It is apparent that the reason for this statute is that there shall be some formality to the signing of consents wherein people agree to release their own children and that this is for the protection of the natural parent so that these will not be hurriedly or unwillingly given.

There is no reason why the consent of Miss Jeanne Bell could not have been taken before a commissioner appointed by the court, prior to November of 1962. It would be a reasonable inference that the adopting parents knew or heard from Doctor Sloan that Miss Jeanne Bell had indicated that she wanted her child returned and would not sign the consent, and that the longer that the Londons could keep the child in their home the stronger their case would be in claiming permanent custody to the child.

As stated in *Taylor v. Waddoups*, 241 P. 2d 157, Utah Statute 78-30-9 no longer sanctions the relinquishment of a child for adoption before a notary public.

POINT IV

THAT, JEANNE BELL, WITH THE HELP OF HER MOTHER CAN PROVIDE A SUITABLE HOME FOR

THE CHILD AND HAS THE FINANCIAL MEANS OF CARING FOR THE CHILD.

(T. 48, 49)

- Q. Do you own your own home?
- A. Yes, I do.
- Q. What is its approximate value?
- A. I had it appraised about five years ago and it was appraised at \$30,000, and since now the property has now gone up it would be between \$32,000 and \$35,000.
 - Q. How many rooms are there in the home?
 - A. It has eight rooms.
 - Q. And how large is it? How large is the lot?
 - A. We haven't had that
 - Q. Is there an apartment on this property too?
- A. Yes, I have. It is built in a wing, as a lot of people do on their homes in that area and some people rent to a lady or a school teacher.
 - Q. Have you rented that before?
- A. Oh, I rented it once when I was working. I had a lady help with the kids for part of the rent and baby sit with the girls.
 - Q. How much did it rent for?
- A. At that time they rented for \$75.00 a month. She rented it for \$50.00 and then I took the other \$25.00 for baby sitting.

- Q. What is the monthly income you have now?
- A. We have it set up by the Glendale Court as our allowance, family allowance. They include a Social Security and Veteran's pay that we get and then they added \$100 a month.
 - Q. What is your total monthly income?
- A. I bring it up to at least \$400 a month. Sometimes \$450. If necessary I can work all of the time, but I wanted to spend part of the time with the girls.
 - Q. Do you have any money in savings now?
 - A. Yes, I do.
 - Q. How much is that?
- A. \$3,800 and I have my bank book here with me. I can give you the bank account.
- Q. This is \$3,839.00 that is in your account. Is that true?
 - A. Yes, that is right.
- Q. And according to this Jeanne has in her account \$1180.00 and Denise has \$1221.00?
 - A. That is right.
- Q. I noticed on the books that in the last year these accounts have increased from about \$2,500 to \$4,000. Have you been able to save this much money in the last year?
- A. Yes, I worked and some of that was stocks. The sum of \$2,500 were paid from them.
 - Q. Do you have any of that stock now?
 - A. No, they have been paid now.

- Q. Do you have any other assets besides your savings accounts and your home?
 - A. No, I don't.
- Q. Do you feel that you have sufficient funds to provide for the necessities of this child?
 - A. Yes, I do.
- Q. Would you be willing to assume this obligation?
 - A. Yes, I would. Definitely.

POINT V

THAT IT IS BETTER FOR THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD THAT IT BE RAISED BY ITS NATURAL PARENT.

The common law and our decisions have consistently held that there is a strong presumption that it is in the best interest of a child that it be left in the home of the natural parent. In Re Bradley, 167 P. 2d 978. It is apparent from the record that an investigation of the home of the natural parent was made by the California Youth Authority and that the report was favorable. There is nothing in the record that would indicate that the natural mother is not of good moral character and in fact from her testimony it appears that she was of above average intelligence and maturity. The court, upon its own motion and with the consent of the parties, had the natural mother evaluated by a psychologist. Testimony given by the psychologist on page 102 indicates that she does have sufficient mental capabilities. (T. 102)

- Q. Have you had occasion to talk with her?
- A. Yes, I have.
- Q. Was this pursuant to a request by the attorneys involved or by the Court?
 - A. By the Court.
 - Q. Was this in the form of an examination?
 - A. Yes sir, it was.
- Q. Will you explain the nature of the tests that were given?
- A. The request was that I give a battery of tests for a phychological examination. Do you want me to tell what tests were used?

THE COURT: Yes.

- DR. SWANNER: We used the Wechsler-Bellevur (Form II), Bender-Gestalt, Memory for Design, Drawing, Rorschach, TAT, M.M. P.I.
- A. Would you explain the procedure you used? (Procedures were not clear on tapes)
- Q. Now, is this the standard approach in determining the level of security of the person?
 - CLERK: Dr. Swanner, please speak a little louder.
 - (Dr. Swanner explained the purpose of each test but did not speak loud enough for mechanical device to pick up.)
- Q. Would you like to go ahead and tell the Court your opinion?

- A. Well, my impression at this point is that she is as mature as a fifteen year old could be.
- Q. Based on your tests, could you give an opinion that would indicate whether or not she could adequately raise a child of a little over a year old?
- A. In my opinion, there was nothing to indicate that she couldn't.
 - Q. And what do you base your opinion on?
- A. She has above average intelligence, attends school. She seemed to have made reasonable plans and is able to relate. My impression of her is she is quite mature.

POINT VI

THAT THE FINDINGS OF THE JUVENILE COURT, SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED UNLESS THEY ARE CLEARLY AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

It is apparent that the Juvenile Court took considerable time and gave this matter great consideration before the decision was rendered. The Court itself prepared the Memorandum Decision, Findings of Fact and Decree. Testimony and depositions were introduced from all available witnesses and sources of information. The Court on its own directed that an investigation of the home of the natural mother be made in California. The Court also, with the consent of the party, ordered that the natural mother be given the psychological and mental evaluation to de-

termine her abilities to assume the responsibilities of motherhood. The Court also stated on page 3 of the Memorandum Decision, as follows:

Another consideration in determining custody is the home in which the child will be living if returned to her mother. The child would live with its mother in its grandmother's home in California. An evaluation of that home made for the Court by

the California Youth Authority is favorable. Finally, the Court would like to note its own observations of the mother taken from her conduct in Court. She exhibited composure and maturity unusual to a girl her age and her responses to questions put by counsel and by the Court showed an insight into the responsibilities and difficulties of motherhood.

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